CLEVELAND HOPE

VS.

.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

JAN 3 2008 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEARANCE:

FRANK CARLTON P. O. Box 442 Greenville, Mississippi

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT, Cleveland Hope

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following is a list of the issues presented for review and they include:

- 1. Whether the trial Judge should have directed a verdict at the close of the case by the State of Mississippi.
- 2. Whether the trial Judge should have granted a mistrial when the victim stated Hope was on house arrest in answer to a non related question.
- 3. Whether the trial Judge should have granted a mistrial when the State's witness referred to Hope's refusal to make a statement about the case.
- 4. Whether the cumulative effect of these errors denied Hope a fair trial.

ron an

FRANK CARLTON, CARLTON, ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR CLEVELAND HOPE 806 Washington Avenue Greenville, MS 38702-0442 Telephone: 662-332-5713

CLEVELAND HOPE

APPELLANT

NO: 2007-TS-01156-COA

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and Disposition at Trial Court

This is a two (2) count felony case in which Cleveland Hope was charged with Third Offense Domestic Violence and House Burglary. The case was tried on June 14, 2006, Honorable Richard Smith president. Hope was convicted of the House Burglary charge and a mistrial was declared on the Domestic Violence charge after the Jury was unable to reach a verdict on that count. Judge Smith sentenced Hope to twenty (20) years with ten (10) years suspended and ten (10) years to serve. The suspended time was to be served as five (5) years of Post Release Supervision and five (5) years unsupervised Post Release Supervision. Hope was also ordered to pay a Three Thousand Dollar (\$3,000.00) fine, Five Hundred (\$500.00) to the Crime Victim Compensation Fund, Three Hundred (\$300.00) in attorney fees, costs of Court, to undergo domestic violence counseling while on probation and to refrain from contact with the victim.

The Third Offense Domestic Violence Charge was retried tesulting in another mistrial for failure of the jury to reach a verdict. That charge was eventually dismissed by the State of Mississippi.

Hope then appealed the conviction for House Burglary and remains incarcerated since the date of the trial.

3

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues with references to the Record

The Victim of the House Burglary charge, Etricia Mitchell, was the first to testify. Hope had lived at the home for about a year several years prior to the burglary and she and Hope had a child, who was at home when the incident happened. She stated that Hope came to her home in Indianola between 5:00 A.M. and 5:30 A.M. asking if he could come in. (T. 28) Mitchell refused to allow him in her home and turned her back to begin running through her home to her bedroom to get her cell phone when she heard someone kicking at the door. She saw Hope first in her home but there was also another male person with Hope who also came in her home. (T. 10) She did not know which of the people, Hope or the man who was with him, kicked the door in to her home. (T. 29, 30)

During the cross-examination of Mitchell, there were questions being asked to determine whether Hope was the father of the child who was present at the home. Counsel for Hope asked whether Hope was present at the time that the child was born. Mitchell responded, "No. He was on house arrest." A motion for mistrial was made in a timely fashion since the comment informed the Jury that Hope had a prior conviction and the Motion was overruled by the Court. (T. 22, 23)

Investigator Johnnie Bland also testified for the State. On direct examination of Bland, he was asked by the State's attorney whether he was able to determine who the other person was who accompanied Hope into Mitchell's home. In response to a question about this other person, Bland responded that "when we tried to talk to Cleveland Hope, he didn't want to comment about the case." A motion for mistrial was timely made since this was a comment on Hope's

4

constitutional right not to make a statement and the State's attorney suggested that the Court could instruct the Jury that Hope had a constitutional right not to make a statement. The Court refused to instruct the Jury saying that such an instruction would just draw attention to this issue. That Motion was likewise overruled.

FRANK CARLTON, MSB #5874 ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR CLEVELAND HOPE 806 Washington Avenue Greenville, MS 38702-0442 Telephone: 662-332-5713

CLEVELAND HOPE

APPELLANT

NO: 2007-TS-01156-COA

VS.

.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There can be little argument about the fact that Etricia Mitchell did not know who actually kicked the door into her home. Certainly Hope entered the home but that is not what he was charged with or convicted of doing. To say that Hope is guilty of the essential element of the "breaking" part of the burglary conviction is mere guesswork and conjecture. The evidence on the "breaking" element of the conviction was legally insufficient and a verdict should have been directed on the burglary charge.

When Etricia Mitchell informed the Jury that Hope was a convicted criminal and on house arrest, the Jury was more likely prejudiced by that knowledge. Her answer was unsolicited by defense counsel and the Jury was not instructed to disregard the statement or asked whether they could set aside their knowledge that he was a convicted criminal at the time of the birth of their child and at the trial of the case.

In addition to that error, another State's witness told the Jury that he was not able to ascertain who the other person was who was with Hope since Hope decided to exercise a constitutional right and not give a statement to the police. Again, the Jury was not instructed to disregard the statement and told that he had a constitutional right not to talk to the police and his exercise of that right should not be held against him by the Jury. The cumulative effect of information which the Jury had been told was surely prejudicial to Cleveland Hope and he was not afforded a fair trial.

.

.

1/ce Tra RI

FRANK CARLTON, MSB #5874 ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR CLEVELAND HOPE 806 Washington Avenue Greenville, MS 38702-0442 Telephone: 662-332-5713

CLEVELAND HOPE

VS.

,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO: 2007-TS-01156-COA

APPELLEE

ARGUMENT

The Motion for Directed Verdict should have been sustained.

At the close of the State's case, Hope moved for a directed verdict and the issue was again raised in Hope's request for a Peremptory Instruction and Motion for a J.N.O.V. or New Trial. Both Motions and the Jury instruction directed the Court's attention to the fact that the State of Mississippi had failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt an essential element of the crime of House Burglary, specifically that Hope had "broken" into the victim's home.

A Motion for directed verdict, peremptory instruction and judgment notwithstanding the verdict test the sufficiency of the evidence. <u>Hogan v. State</u> 755 So. 2d 57 (Miss. App. 1999)

In this case, the evidence was clear that the victim of the House burglary, Etricia Mitchell, did not know who actually "broke" into her home. (T. 29, 30) There was another person with Hope and either one of them could have been the one who kicked in the door. Ms. Mitchell, without doubt, testified that this was true.

Since who "broke" into the home was an essential element of the crime for which Hope was convicted, the Court should have directed a verdict for Hope for this charge.

The mistrial for the Jury being informed that Hope was on House Arrest should have been sustained.

The victim, Etricia Mitchell, was on cross-examination and was being questioned about who the father was of a child who lived in the home with her. A question was asked of her concerning whether Hope was present at the hospital when the child was born. Mitchell responded that Hope was not present since he was on house arrest. (T. 22) A motion for a mistrial was then made and overruled. (T. 23) The birth of the child was five (5) years before the trial (T. 5) and predated the previous domestic violence convictions (T. 17) by several years. This was evidence, therefore, then placed before the Jury of another conviction for a crime and that evidence was surely prejudicial to Hope. The Court gave no cautionary instruction.

This Court has stated in <u>Hughes v. State</u> 735 So. 2d 238 (Miss. 1999) that when a witness stated that the defendant had previously been in jail, a mistrial was not warranted since the trial court gave a cautionary instruction to the Jury. No such instruction was given in this matter.

This issue was again addressed by the Court of Appeals in <u>Evans v. State</u> 802 So. 2d 137 (Miss. App. 2001) where the Court stated that in instances where evidence of past crimes has been introduced, a mistrial should be granted unless the evidence had no harmful effect on the Jury. Whether there was any harmful effect in this case was not addressed by the Court since no cautionary instruction was given to the Jury nor was the Jury questioned about whether they could disregard the statement.

The Mistrial for the Jury being informed that Hope had chosen not to give a statement to the police should have been sustained.

Investigator Johnnie Bland was the last witness for the State of Mississippi. He was on direct examination and was asked by the State's attorney whether he was able to determine who the other person was who had accompanied Hope to Mitchell's home. He said he had asked the victim and she did not know who the person was. He then went on to say that Hope 'did not want to comment about the case'. An objection was made and a motion for mistrial was made. The Court overruled the motion and chose not to give a cautionary instruction to the Jury. (T. 47, 48)

There is not question but that a decision of whether to grant a mistrial lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge. However, there should at least be inquiry made and consideration given as to whether an admonition or curative instruction could remove any prejudicial effect that the inadmissible matter being place before the jury may have caused. <u>McGilberry v. State</u> 741 So. 2d 894 (Miss. 1999)

Again, no cautionary instruction was given to the Jury and the Jury was not questioned about whether they could disregard the statement made by the witness since Hope had a constitutionally guaranteed right not to give a statement to the police.

The cumulative effect of the errors should warrant a reversal.

Perhaps this Court would not consider either of the events that happened for which a Motion for Mistrial was made to have been egregious enough to warrant the Motion for Mistrial having been sustained. Even so, the cumulative effect of those errors can reach a level when considered together that a reversal can be ordered. <u>Gentry v. State</u> 735 So. 2d 186 (Miss. 1999) Their cumulative effect warrant a reversal in this case.

Jaille and (

FRANK CARLTON, MSB #5874 ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR CLEVELAND HOPE 806 Washington Avenue Greenville, MS 38702-0442 Telephone: 662-332-5713

JULIUIG HIGGHOLA Α. He is. 1 Did he acknowledge being the father of your 2 Q. child? 3 Yes, ma'am. Α. 4 And the child is how old? 5 Ο. He's five. 6 Α. 7 When is his birthday? Q. May 5, 2001. 8 Α. So he's just turned five last month? 9 Q. Α. Yes, ma'am. 10 And where does the child live? 11 0. With me. 12 Α. 13 Was the child living with you on February 6th Q. of 2006? 14 Yes, ma'am. 15 Α. I want to call your attention to the early 16 0. morning hours of that day and ask you if anything 17 happened that morning? 18 19 Α. Yes. It was around 5 o'clock, about 5:30. Ί got a knock at the door from Cleveland, and he came to 20 21 the door and wanted to know whose car was in my yard. Let me stop you right here. Were you awake? 22 ο. 23 When he got started banging on the door. Α. 24 All right. He wanted to know what? Ο. 25 Α. He wanted to know whose car was in my yard. 26 Q. Whose car was it? 27 It was my cousins. Α. 28 Q. What did you tell him? 29 Α. I told him it was my cousin's car. He told me

	Etricia Mi	Itchell - Direct
1	in with	him, or did he come in later?
2	Α.	No, he came in first.
3	Q.	Who came in first?
4	Α.	Cleveland.
5	Q.	All right. Was the other guy in the house when
6	he kick	ed the bathroom door in?
7	А.	No, ma'am.
8	Q.	At what point did he come in?
9	А.	He came in once I had made it into the kitchen,
10	and I s	ort of like got behind him to try and stop
11	Clevela	nd from hitting me.
12	Q.	Did it stop him from hitting you?
13	А.	No, ma'am.
14	Q.	Did the other guy defend you in any way?
15	А.	No.
16	Q.	What happened next?
17	А.	After maybe five minutes after we got in the
18	kitchen	, and the guy kept telling him somebody had
19	called	the police, then he left. They got in the car
20	and lef	t.
21	Q.	Did he take anything with him?
22	А.	He took my cell phone so I couldn't call the
23	police	because he knows that's what I was going to do
24	was cal	l the police.
25	Q.	About how many times did he hit you with his
26	hand?	
27	А.	About 20.
28	Q.	And he also kicked you?
29	А.	Yes, ma'am.
	ļ	

:

Etricia Mitchell - Direct

begin your deliberations. Just go back and 1 take about a ten-minute break. We'll be with 2 you in just a moment. 3 (RECESS TAKEN.) 4 (IN OPEN COURT: JURY OUT.) 5 BY THE COURT: Before we bring the jury 6 back in, have you had a chance to look over 7 these two document? 8 BY MR. KELLY: I have, your Honor, and I 9 have looked them over with my client. There 10 are two documents which are abstracts of court 11 records of the Indianola Municipal Court. One 12 of those documents -- let's see here. One of 13 those documents has a court date of May 23rd, 14 '05. My client recalls that particular 15 16 incident and is of the opinion that this accurately depicts the conviction that he 17 received on that day in that court. 18 The other abstract has a court date 19 indicated of August 2nd, 2004. My client has 20 no independent recollection of that. I have no 21 22 serious objection to whether or not this is an 23 actual abstract of the court record, but I 24 can't admit that it's him when he doesn't 25 recall it. So that's the basis of my 26 objection. 27 BY THE COURT: All right. Anything else 28 from the State? 29 BY MS. BRIDGES: Judge, they are what they

Etricia Mitchell - Cross My mother has him. Α. 1 -- in the courthouse today? 2 0. 3 Α. Yes. And that child was born five years ago 4 Q. obviously. Where was the child born? 5 What county? 6 Α. Q. Yes, ma'am. 7 A. Sunflower County. 8 Sunflower County. Was Cleveland Hope present 9 Q. at the time that the child was born? 10 No. He was on house arrest. 11 Α. BY MR. KELLY: May I approach the bench? 12 BY THE COURT: Yes, sir. 13 (CONFERENCE AT THE BENCH WITHOUT THE 14 HEARING OF THE JURY.) 15 BY MR. KELLY: Well, that answer was 16 nonresponsive to my question. The jury knows 17 he was on house arrest. What was he on house 18 arrest for? 19 BY MS. BRIDGES: Drugs. He wasn't 20 selling. I think it was a possession charge 21 22 back then. BY MR. KELLY: They've now been informed 23 24 that he's got a previous conviction, and I 25 would move for a mistrial. 26 BY MS. BRIDGES: Judge, they know he's got 27 prior convictions for these domestic violence 28 charges. They don't necessarily know that 29 that's not part of what this was.

ر دمت مدت سو ر

Etricia Mitchell - Cross BY THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the 1 objection and overrule the mistrial. 2 BY MR. KELLY: All right. Thank you. 3 (BENCH CONFERENCE CONCLUDED. IN OPEN 4 COURT:) 5 6 BY MR. KELLY: But he wasn't there at the hospital when the 7 0. child was born; is that correct? 8 9 Α. He didn't come. I understand. But yes or no. 10 Q. 11 No. Α. He wasn't there. Now, when you were at the 12 0. hospital, having had children myself, I recall that 13 they come around and ask you what needs to go on that 14 birth certificate, right? 15 Α. Right. 16 And when you put his name down as the father on 17 0. that birth certificate, you were the one that told that 18 19 to the nurse, not him, right? No, that's incorrect. 20 Α. That's incorrect. Tell me what's correct. 21 Q. He was there the day before I had him, and he 22 Α. give that information before the child was born. 23 24 So he was not able to come the day of, but he Ο. 25 was there the day before? 26 He got a pass. Α. 27 He had a what? Q. 28 He had a pass. He got a pass. Α. 29 Okay. Did he sign the birth certificate? Q.

Etricia Mitchell - Cross Okay. Now, on the day in question, that is ο. 1 February 6th, '06, early morning hours on that day, you 2 heard knocking or banging on the door. Is that the 3 first indication you had that he was there? 4 Correct. Α. 5 Did you look out and see him? 6 Q. Looked out my window, yes, the door. 7 Α. Your door has a window on it? 8 0. Glass window. 9 Α. Glass window on it? 10 0. Yes. Α. 11 And you looked out the window and you saw his 12 0. face or -- is that correct? 13 Correct. 14 Α. And he was beating on the door? 15 0. Not at that time. 16 Α. Tell us what he was doing. 17 0. He came to the door and asked could he come in, 18 Α. and I asked him why did he want to come in. He said he 19 just wanted to come in, and he proceeded to ask me 20 whose car was that in my yard, and I told him that was 21 22 my cousin's car. Y'all are talking through the door at this 23 Q. 24 time? 25 Correct. Α. Go ahead. What happened then? 26 Q. 27 Α. After I told him that was my cousin's car, he told me that was not my cousin's car, and I told him he 28 needed to leave before I called the police. He told me 29

Etricia Mitchell - Cross to fuck the police and let him in. And I kept telling 1 him to just leave before I call the police, and by the 2 time I could go get the phone, he had broke in the 3 house. 4 So you went back to get your cell phone? 5 0. I was going to go get it. Α. 6 7 Where were you headed to? 0. In my bedroom down the hall. 8 Α. Had you gone down the hall? 9 Q. 10 Α. No. How far did you get? 11 Q. Α. I made it in the living room. 12 In the living room. You had your back turned 13 Q. 14 to the door? 15 Α. Right. And you heard it? 16 Q. I heard him start kicking it. 17 Α. Heard him start kicking it. What did you do? 18 Q. I ran down the hall. 19 Α. Ran down the hall. Went to your --20 Q. Bedroom. 21 Α. -- bedroom. Closed the door? 22 0. Bathroom door. 23 Α. Bathroom. Closed the bathroom door? 24 0. 25 Α. Correct. So when that door was kicked in, that could 26 Q. 27 have been him or the guy that was with him? 28 No. The guy that was with him never came in Α. 29 the house until after.

	Etricia Mi	tchell - Cross
1	Q.	Okay. I'm not suggesting that he did. What
2	I'm sug	gesting is when he kicked the door in, it could
3	have be	en either one of them.
4	Α.	Correct.
5	Q.	So, now, you turn around or you get in the
6	bathroo	m to protect yourself?
7	Α.	Correct.
8	Q.	And what happens here? He comes down the hall;
9	is that	right?
10	А.	He was at the door by the time I had shut the
11	bathroo:	m door.
12	Q.	When you shut the bathroom door, what did he
13	do?	
14	Α.	He kept telling me to open the door, and I told
15	him I w	asn't going to open the door. The next thing I
16	know he	had busted in the bathroom door.
17	Q.	Busted the bathroom door?
18	А.	Uh-huh.
19	Q.	And that's when he started to hitting you or
20	slappin	g you?
21	А.	He grabbed me out of the bathroom by my hair.
22	Q.	By your hair?
23	А.	Uh-huh.
24	Q.	Pulled you out?
25	Α.	Correct.
26	Q.	And hit you?
27	Α.	He pushed me against the door to my bedroom.
28	Q.	And hit you approximately I believe you said
29	20 time	s?

•

 ~ -4

Jounnie prana - priece attempting to fix it. I told him to hold up because I 1 needed to take some pictures. 2 Did you examine the bathroom door? 0. 3 Yes, I examined the bathroom door also. 4 Α. What did you observe about it? 5 Ο. That door had been damaged also. 6 Α. What about the overall condition of the bedroom 7 0. and the kitchen areas? 8 It was okay. I believe she had started 9 Α. straightening up, because like I said, she had gotten a 10 guy to try to fix the door. There wasn't any 11 furniture or anything out of place that I seen to 12 really take a picture of. 13 O. Do you remember about what time it was that you 14 went over there? 15 I can't exactly remember. It was some time in 16 Α. the early morning I believe. 17 Were you able to find out who this other person 18 Q. was who had come to the house? 19 I did get a chance -- I spoke with Etricia 20 Α. No. Mitchell. She stated that she didn't know the guy. 21 When we tried to talk to Cleveland Hope, he didn't want 22 23 to comment about the case. BY MR. KELLY: Object to that. I need to 24 approach the bench. 25 26 BY THE COURT: All right. 27 (CONFERENCE AT THE BENCH WITHOUT THE 28 HEARING OF THE JURY.) 29 BY MR. KELLY: My client chose not to make

	Johnnie Blang - Direct
1	a statement, which I believe to be
2	BY THE COURT: I thought he said he didn't
2	want to come in.
4	BY MS. BRIDGES: He didn't want to
5	comment.
6	BY THE COURT: Oh, okay.
7	BY MR. KELLY: Based on his statement
8	about my client exercising a constitutional
9	right not to testify, I move for a mistrial.
10	BY THE COURT: Anything from the State?
11	BY MS. BRIDGES: Yes, sir. The State
12	would object to it. I think he has a right to
13	say the defendant gave no statement, and the
14	Court can certainly instruct the jury that he
15	has a constitutional right to do that, and it
16	cures that problem.
17	BY MR. KELLY: I don't think it does cure
18	it, but I
19	BY THE COURT: I'm going to deny the
20	motion. I'm not going to instruct them. I
21	think it just draws attention to it at this
22	point. I'll deny the motion.
23	(BENCH CONFERENCE CONCLUDED. IN OPEN
24	COURT:)
25	BY MS. BRIDGES:
26	Q. Officer Bland, did you observe Etricia Mitchell
27	when you were at the house?
28	A. Yes, I did.
_ 29	Q. And what did you observe about her?
ŀ	

CLEVELAND HOPE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO: 2007-TS-01156-COA APPELLEE