IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLEVELAND HOPE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1156

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Sunflower County in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of BURGLARY OF AN OCCUPIED DWELLING.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Etricia Mitchell resided at 8 Kim Herman Cove, Indianola, Sunflower County,
Mississippi along with her son on 6 February 2006. The Appellant is the father of her son.

In the early morning of that day, at about five in the morning, the Appellant banged on Mitchell's back door. He was at her residence because he wanted to know whose automobile was in her yard. Mitchell told him that the car belonged to her cousin; the Appellant told her that she was lying. She told him to leave the property or she would summon the police. The Appellant then kicked the door in, came into the house, and began to assault Mitchell. There was

no one in the house besides Mitchell and her son.

There was another individual with the Appellant. He came into the house after the Appellant entered, but he did not participate in the Appellant's assault on Mitchell. At some point this other person told the Appellant that the police had been summoned. The Appellant broke off his assault and left the house, taking Mitchell's cell telephone with him. The other person left with the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 90 - 121).

Officer Irish Johnson arrived at Mitchell's home. He observed the kicked - in door and the physical injuries suffered by Mitchell. He also noticed that toys and figurines had been disturbed, indicating that there had been an altercation within the house. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 121 - 125).

Johnnie Bland, an investigator with the Indianola police department, went to Mitchell's home on the day the Appellant broke into her home and assaulted her and made photographs of the damage to the home. Photographs were also made of Mitchell's injuries. Mitchell did not know the identify of the other man who was with the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 128 - 136).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT?
- 2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ONCE THE VICTIM TESTIFIED THAT THE APPELLANT HAS BEEN ON HOUSE ARREST AT THE TIME HER CHILD WAS BORN?
- 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ON ACCOUNT OF THE FACT THAT A POLICE OFFICER TESTIFIED THAT THE APPELLANT TOLD HIM THAT HE DID NOT WANT TO COMMENT ABOUT THE CASE?
- 4. WERE CUMULATIVE ERRORS COMMITTED SUCH THAT THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ON ACCOUNT OF THE FACT THAT, IN RESPONSE TO A QUESTION BY THE APPELLANT, THE FACT THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ON HOUSE ARREST AT THE TIME HIS CHILD WAS BORN WAS TESTIFIED TO
- 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ON ACCOUNT OF THE FACT THAT A WITNESS TESTIFIED THAT THE APPELLANT TOLD HIM THAT HE DID NOT WISH TO COMMENT ON HIS CASE
- 4. THAT THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THE CASE AT BAR

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT

In his First Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to grant a directed verdict on the charge of burglary of an occupied dwelling. The Appellant specifically asserted in the trial court, as he does here, that the State failed to proved that he broke into the victim's house by kicking the door in. In considering this assignment of error, we bear in mind the standard of review appurtenant to sufficiency of the evidence issues. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

Briefly restated, the evidence in this case in support of the verdict, taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences arising therefrom, was that the Appellant wakened the victim at an early hour by banging on her back door. The Appellant demanded to know whose motor car was without the house. When the victim told him to whom the car belonged, the Appellant did not believe her; when she threatened to call the police, and went to get her phone, the door was kicked in and the Appellant came into the house and assaulted the victim.

It was also in evidence that there was another man with the Appellant. However, there was no testimony as to his identity or as to his connection with the Appellant. There was no testimony that he participated in the breaking of the door, though there was testimony that he entered into the house. He did not participate in the assault.

It may be, as the Appellant claims, that the victim could not definitely testify that the Appellant was the one who broke in the door. However, every reasonable inference arising from the Appellant's actions and words immediately prior to the breaking in of the door would support the conclusion that it was indeed the Appellant who did so. Given the fact that the other man on the scene did nothing beyond being present, given the fact that the victim did not know who he was, it is unreasonable and illogical to suppose that that other man did the Appellant the favor of kicking in the door and then nothing thereafter. There was nothing in evidence to show or suggest that this other man had some reason or motive to assist the Appellant in the burglary.

On the other hand, even if it be supposed that there was some evidence or inference to support the notion that the other man did kick the door in, this would avail the Appellant nothing. It would simply mean that the Appellant and the other man were confederates in the felony. This would mean that the other man was guilty of the burglary as well as the Appellant. But, given what the Appellant did, such evidence would hardly show that the Appellant was not guilty also. It would simply mean that the other man was an aider and abettor of the felony. One who is present at the commission of an offense and assists another in the commission of it is an aider and abettor, and equally guilty of it. *Nichols v. State*, 822 So.2d 984, 989 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Burglary of a dwelling consists of a breaking and entering of an occupied dwelling with the intention to commit some crime therein. *Wright v. State*, 540 So.2d 1 (Miss. 1989). Here, it is beyond question that there was a breaking and an entry into the victim's domicile. Whether

the Appellant was the one who actually broke the door in, or whether it was the other man who did so, is a matter of no consequence. The Appellant did enter the home. His intent to commit a crime was proved by the act of domestic violence of committed against the victim. The evidence was overwhelmingly sufficient to support the verdict; the court thus committed no error in denying relief on the Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

The first Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ON ACCOUNT OF THE FACT THAT, IN RESPONSE TO A QUESTION BY THE APPELLANT, THE FACT THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ON HOUSE ARREST AT THE TIME HIS CHILD WAS BORN WAS TESTIFIED TO

During cross - examination of the victim, she was asked whether the Appellant was present at the time her child was born. The victim testified that he was not, that he was on house arrest at the time. There was a bench conference at that point. The Appellant, stating that the jury had been informed that he had a previous conviction, moved for a mistrial. The prosecutor pointed out that she had previously proven that the Appellant had been convicted of domestic violence and that the answer given by the victim did not indicate that the Appellant had been convicted of something other than domestic violence. The trial court then overruled the objection and motion for a mistrial. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 108 - 109). The prosecutor had indeed established that the Appellant had been convicted of domestic violence. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 104 - 105).

The trial court was correct in refusing to grant a mistrial. While so much of the answer given by the victim concerning house arrest might have been unnecessary, it was not prejudicial to the Appellant. The jury already knew that he had been convicted of domestic violence. For all they knew from the answer given, the house arrest related to those incidents.

In the event, however, that this Court shall find that the objection to the answer should have been sustained, there was no basis for a mistrial. The trial court was in the best position to determine where serious and irreparable prejudice had occurred. *Edwards v. State*, 856 So.2d 587 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). This obscure reference to house arrest cannot reasonably be seen as having caused such prejudice.

The Appellant contends that the trial court should have given a cautionary instruction. However, the Appellant did not ask for one. He may not now complain of the lack of such an instruction. *Palmer v. State*, 939 So.2d 792 (Miss. 2006).

If it was error to have overruled the objection, any such error was surely harmless. The answer did not prejudice the Appellant. On the other hand, the evidence of his guilt was overwhelming. No reasonable jury could have returned a verdict other than guilty on the charge of burglary in view of the evidence presented by the State. Under such a circumstance, any error in the very brief mention of house arrest is harmless. *Triggs v. State*, 803 So.2d 1229 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL ON ACCOUNT OF THE FACT THAT A WITNESS TESTIFIED THAT THE APPELLANT TOLD HIM THAT HE DID NOT WISH TO COMMENT ON HIS CASE

In the course of one police officer's testimony, the officer was asked by the prosecutor whether he had been able to identify and locate the man who was with the Appellant when the Appellant broke and entered and assaulted the victim. The officer stated that, when he attempted to talk with the Appellant, the Appellant stated that he did not want to comment about the case. Counsel for the Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial. The prosecutor noted that a mistrial was unnecessary and that the trial court could give a curative instruction to the jury. The

trial court refused to do so, it being of the opinion that such an instruction would simply draw attention to the comment. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 132 - 133).

This testimony by the witness did not invite the jury to consider the fact that the Appellant did not give a statement as evidence of his guilt. Instead, the witness was simply explaining why he had been unable to identify and locate the man who was with the Appellant. It is, of course, highly improper to point out to a jury or to argue to a jury that an accused invoked his privilege to remain silent at trial where the purpose for doing so is to invite the jury to use that fact against the accused. But, where, as here, the fact that an accused refused to speak to law enforcement is introduced simply and only to explain some matter, we do not believe that a foul is committed. This is entirely different from commenting upon an accused's failure to testify. It is that which is prohibited. *MiGilberry v. State*, 741 So.2d 894 (Miss. 1999). The Appellant, it will be noted, has not presented authority to demonstrate that what occurred here was reversible error. The one decision he has cited concerned an alleged comment on the failure of an accused to testify.

It may be that the trial court refused to grant an instruction at the time the testimony was given. However, the Court will find that the trial court did later instruct the jury that the fact that the Appellant declined to testify was a fact that could not be considered for any purpose. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 25). We think, that to the extent that the testimony complained of was improper and that some kind of instruction should have been granted, this instruction was sufficient for the purpose. *Blue v. State*, 674 So.2d 1184, 1215 (Miss. 1996).

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

4. THAT THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THE CASE AT BAR

Since there is no merit to the foregoing claims of error, there can be no cumulative error.

Bright v. State, 894 So.2d 590 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

In the event, however, that this Court will consider the Fourth Assignment of Error, we adopt here our responses to the foregoing assignments of error.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.